The Commission to End Health Care Disparities

Collecting and using race, ethnicity and language data in ambulatory settings:

A white paper with recommendations from the Commission to End Health Care Disparities

Matthew Wynia, MD, MPH¹ Romana Hasnain-Wynia, PhD² Timothy D. Hotze¹ Susan L. Ivey, MD, MHSA^{3,4}

¹ American Medical Association ² Center for Healthcare Equity/Institute for Healthcare Studies, Division of General Internal Medicine, Northwestern University, Feinberg School of Medicine ³ School of Public Health, University of California, Berkeley ⁴ American Medical Women's Association

This paper was written under the direction of the Research and Data Resources Committee of the Commission to End Health Care Disparities.

This paper was approved for publication by the Steering Committee of the Commission to End Health Care Disparities on January 18, 2011. It should not be construed as a policy statement of the authors' affiliated institutions nor of the organizations represented on the commission.

To cite this white paper: Wynia M, Hasnain-Wynia R, Hotze T, Ivey SL. Collecting and using race, ethnicity and language data in ambulatory settings: a white paper with recommendations from the Commission to End Health Care Disparities. Chicago: American Medical Association; 2011. http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/doc/public-health/cehcd-redata.pdf.

Authors' acknowledgements: The authors wish to acknowledge the members of the Research and Data Resources Committee of the Commission to End Health Care Disparities (Robert Gilchick, Randall C. Morgan and Lynne Richardson) and the Steering Committee of the Commission (Leonard Weather, James Rohack, Elena Rios, Willarda Edwards, Evelyn Lewis & Clark, Raymond Cox, Jacqueline Stiff, Robert Like, Mildred MG Olivier, Art Fleming, Hector Lopez, Nestor Ramirez-Lopez) for their comments on earlier versions of this report. Robert Like and James Rohack deserve special thanks for their many helpful suggestions. In addition, Sonja Boone and Tanya Lopez at the American Medical Association and Faith Muhlenberg-Cooper at the National Medical Association have been of great service as this project has evolved and progressed.

Executive summary

Health care disparities are differences in medical care that are not due to differing clinical needs, patient preferences or the appropriateness of the intervention. Disparities in health care for racial and ethnic minorities in the United States are long-standing, well-documented and have complex origins, both historic and contemporary.

Today there is broad agreement that quality health care must be safe, timely, effective, efficient, patient-centered and equitable. Bbecause research demonstrates that our health care system remains far from equitable, health care disparities are widely understood to be important markers of poor quality care. As a result, the elimination of disparities is a matter of great moral and practical concern for our nation, including the more than 70 professional societies and aligned organizations that comprise the Commission to End Health Care Disparities.

This report on collecting demographic data in ambulatory practices is based on the fundamental proposition that to eliminate disparities in care one must first be able to detect them. Detecting disparities requires three steps: (1) collect valid and reliable data on the demographic characteristics of patients receiving care, (2) collect valid and reliable data on the quality of care delivered, and then (3) stratify the quality data by the relevant demographic subgroups.

For more than 10 years health care providers and practitioners have been urged to undertake step one, the systematic collection of basic demographic data on the patients they see. Yet research shows that most practitioners do not collect these data, or they do so in non-systematic and unreliable ways. Among those who do collect these data, very few use them to help address disparities.

This report therefore focuses primarily on step one, though each of the three steps are addressed in the commission's recommendations. In particular, the Commission to End Health Care Disparities is well aware of the many logistic, financial, socio-cultural, technological and other direct and indirect barriers that ambulatory practices face in collecting and using demographic data. A key motivation for this report, however, is that our research suggests some physicians and practice managers might choose not to collect patient demographic data because they simply do not see the value in doing so.

In this regard, the Commission to End Health Care Disparities believes that demographic data are worth collecting only if they are used to help physicians and other health professionals achieve practical, applied goals. While eliminating disparities is an important social task, detecting and eliminating disparities is rarely the only, and maybe not the most compelling, reason to collect patient demographic data for individual ambulatory practices. This report details and provides examples of several activities that are improved with accurate demographic data, and how these data can directly and substantively benefit ambulatory practices. These activities include optimizing practice resources to improve quality, improving the data used in pay for performance incentive programs and competing in a rapidly changing market, as well as ensuring equity and eliminating disparities.

Finally, the report provides a set of detailed recommendations for collecting and using patient demographic data in the ambulatory setting (a table of these recommendations appears on page 20 of the report). These recommendations are intended to guide not only physicians and health professionals but also vendors of electronic health record (EHR) systems, policymakers, purchasers, hospitals, health plans and others. In particular, the commission argues that new EHR systems, if they are properly developed and standardized across different platforms and systems so that data can be shared, should dramatically facilitate reliable demographic data collection, in addition to making it much easier for physicians and other health professionals to use these data in clinically meaningful ways.

Table of contents

I.	Introduction	6
	Background	6
	About the Commission to End Health Care Disparities	6
	Quality, disparities and demographic data collection	6
II.	Using patient demographic data in ambulatory practices	9
	Quality improvement and pay for performance	9
	Competing in a rapidly changing market	9
	Ensuring equity and eliminating disparities	10
III.	Potential barriers to collecting demographic data	
	Potential clinical misuses of the data	11
	Time and cost	12
	Perceived legal barriers	12
	Staff discomfort in talking about race	13
	Patient concerns	13
IV.	Potential barriers to using demographic data	14
	Barriers to clinical performance measurement	14
	Small sample sizes	14
	Stratification of performance measures by demographic groups	14
v.	Recommendations for collecting and using demographic data	15
	When to collect demographic data	17
	What demographic data to collect	
	Race and ethnicity categories	
	Language categories	19
	How to ask for self-reported race, ethnicity and primary language	19
	Using demographic data	20
	"Two Clicks to Equity": Recommendations for electronic health record systems	21
VI.	Conclusions	

Introduction

Background

Health care disparities are differences in medical care that are not due to differing clinical needs, patient preferences, or the appropriateness of the intervention.¹ Racial and ethnic disparities within the United States health care system are long-standing^{2,3} well-documented¹ and have complex origins, both historic and contemporary.^{1,3,4} In recent years, a number of medical professional associations have undertaken efforts toward eliminating minority health care disparities, including recognizing and seeking to address the history of racial discrimination and segregation within the medical profession itself.⁵⁻ Yet nationwide, racial and ethnic health care disparities have persisted, and in some cases worsened.^{1,3,4,11,12}

In 2003 a landmark report was published by the Institute of Medicine (IOM), titled "Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care".¹ This report summarized decades of research demonstrating the existence of health care disparities in America, and it made clear some of the complex reasons why they have been so resistant to elimination. A subsequent IOM report in 2009 emphasized that standardized race, ethnicity and language data are needed to detect disparities, allow comparison of data on disparities across organizations and regions and over time, create pooled data sets across organizations or regions, and support reporting and replication of successful disparity-reduction initiatives.¹³ Given the challenges to be overcome, a key lesson from these reports has been that ending health care disparities will require the coordinated and focused efforts of multiple stakeholders across the health care system.

About the Commission to End Health Care Disparities

In 2004 the Commission to End Health Care Disparities was created to focus and coordinate the efforts of organized medicine to eliminate health care disparities. Today, the commission comprises more than 70 state and specialty medical societies and aligned organizations (Appendix 1). It is led by a Secretariat of the American Medical Association (AMA), the National Medical Association (NMA) and the National Hispanic Medical Association (NHMA). The commission's primary role is to support health professionals and health professional associations in their efforts to eliminate health care disparities. This is accomplished through: (1) proactively collaborating to increase awareness and education among health professionals about health care disparities; (2) producing clinical tools and resources that promote the use of effective strategies to combat disparities in practice; and (3) coordinating advocacy to support policy and action that will lead to the elimination of disparities in health care and thereby strengthen the health care system and our nation.¹⁴

Quality, disparities, and demographic data collection

Health care disparities are an important marker of poor quality care. According to the Institute of Medicine report, "Crossing the Quality Chasm," quality health care is defined as care that is safe, timely, effective, efficient, patient-centered, and equitable.¹⁵ This "six pillars" definition of health care quality has recently been adopted by the AMA and it has been broadly endorsed by governmental and private organizations. ^{1, 16-17, 18} Yet while efforts to address and improve each of the six facets of health care quality are underway, numerous studies demonstrating disparities show that our health care system remains very far from equitable. In particular, while inequities exist and have been studied across many groups (by urban/rural, higher and lower socioeconomic status, insured versus uninsured, by sex, sexual orientation and more), hundreds of studies nationwide have documented that racial and ethnic minority patients too often receive lower quality care than non-Hispanic whites.¹ Even after adjusting for insurance and socioeconomic status, members of certain racial and ethnic groups are less likely to receive routine and preventive care^{19,-22} and when they receive care it is more often of lower quality¹ (pp.³⁸⁻⁷⁹) and, partly as a result of these disparities, they experience worse health outcomes, including higher disease burdens

Health care disparities are an important marker of poor quality care.

Even after adjusting for

insurance and socioeconomic status, members of certain racial and ethnic groups are less likely to receive routine and preventive care, and when they receive care it is more often of lower quality and lower life expectancies compared to non-Hispanic whites. Recent national data suggest that some racial and ethnic health care disparities are declining or have been eliminated, but many others have remained the same or even increased in the last few years.^{16,23}

In 2000 the Minority Health and Health Disparities Research Act required the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) to study U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS) data collection practices and report to Congress with recommendations. The NAS concluded that collecting accurate data on patient race and ethnicity should be a top priority in health care. The 2003 IOM report on health care disparities, "Unequal Treatment," recommended that providers should "collect and report data on health care access and utilization by patients' race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and where possible, primary language."1 (p.233) More recently, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 included a section urging the "use of electronic systems to ensure the comprehensive collection of patient demographic data, including, at a minimum, race, ethnicity, primary language, and gender information."84 Subsequent to this Act, providers are being offered financial incentive for the meaningful use of electronic health record (EHR) systems, which includes using these systems to collect basic patient demographic data, including each patient's race, ethnicity and primary language.²⁴ The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (the health reform act) requires federally conducted or supported health care programs or surveys to collect and report demographic data, including ethnicity, sex, primary language, and disability status, at the smallest geographic level possible (\$4302). It also requires the Secretary of Health and Human Services, with the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, to develop national standards for data collection, interoperability and security. In September 2009 the IOM recommended standard methods for collecting data on race, ethnicity and language.¹⁷

Despite these new incentives for private practices, and requirements for federal programs, the best evidence suggests that, to date even health plans, hospitals, large medical group practices and community health centers often do not collect basic demographic information from their patients at all, or they collect it in non-systematic and unreliable ways.²⁴ For example, as recently as 2005 only 23 states had created standards for categories and definitions for race and ethnicity data collection deemed minimally acceptable by the federal Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ).²⁵ Moreover, when large care delivery organizations collect demographic data they infrequently use these data to stratify their quality data, which is necessary to detect and track disparities.²⁶

Among smaller practices in ambulatory settings, the situation is probably worse. While a number of important steps have been taken to facilitate race and ethnicity data collection in hospitals, relatively little attention has been given to demographic data collection in the ambulatory setting. Among smaller groups of physicians—practices with one to five members—there is reason to believe that collecting and using demographic data to document and address disparities, or for other purposes, is very rare. Recent work has documented a number of barriers to collecting such data in smaller practices, which can include concerns about privacy and legality, fear of resistance from patients and staff, and uncertainty on how to use the data to improve care.²⁸

In sum, for more than 10 years health care providers and practitioners have been urged to systematically collect demographic data on the patients they see, including those seen in clinics and practices as outpatients, but this initial step in reducing disparities apparently poses a number of challenges for many practices.^{24,29-30}

The reasons that physicians do not collect demographic data in the ambulatory setting are numerous, but can be roughly broken into two related categories. First, practices might face logistic, financial, socio-cultural, technological or other direct barriers to collecting demographic data from patients. Second, even without such barriers, physicians might choose not to collect these data because they simply do not see the value in doing so.³¹ ... when large care delivery organizations collect demographic data they infrequently use these data to stratify their quality data, which is necessary to detect and track disparities With regard to logistic and other barriers to demographic data collection, a careful exploration shows some to be based in false beliefs, while others are real but potentially surmountable once these data are understood to have practical value.

The point of asking patients about their race, ethnicity and primary language is not simply to amass piles of data—the data are worth collecting only if they are used to help physicians and other health professionals achieve practical, applied goals However, with regard to the practical value of these data, it is important to acknowledge that collecting patient demographic data serves no end in itself. The point of asking patients about their race, ethnicity and primary language is not simply to amass piles of data—the data are worth collecting only if they are used to help physicians and other health professionals achieve practical, applied goals. In this regard, we note that eliminating disparities is an important social goal, but for ambulatory practices it is not the only, and maybe not the most compelling, reason to collect patient demographic data. These data can also be used for several activities that can benefit ambulatory practices and potentially improve quality of care.

In the remainder of this white paper, we describe some practical uses for demographic data collected in the ambulatory setting and then we address potential barriers to collecting and using patient demographic data. We conclude with a set of consensus recommendations on demographic data collection in ambulatory settings from the Commission to End Health Care Disparities. These recommendations are intended to guide not only physicians and health professionals but also vendors of EHR systems, policymakers, purchasers, hospitals, health plans and others. In particular, we make the argument that new EHR systems, if properly developed and standardized across different platforms and systems so that data can be shared, should dramatically facilitate reliable demographic data collection, while also making it much easier for physicians and other health professionals to use these data for meaningful improvements in equity and other facets of health care quality.

Using patient demographic data in ambulatory practices

There are several ways in which ambulatory practices can benefit from accurately documenting basic demographic information about the patients they serve.

Quality improvement and pay for performance

As in the rest of the health care system, ambulatory practices have limited resources available for quality improvement (QI) activities; persons charged with QI responsibilities should aim to get optimal value from their investments. One way to do so is to determine which sub-populations are more likely to receive poorer quality care and then target those sub-populations for specific QI interventions. Adopting a *low hanging fruit* approach to QI has been shown to help maximize the value of QI dollars in ambulatory practices.³¹

Obtaining optimal value for limited resources in QI is of particular importance for smaller physician practices. More than 75 percent of office visits take place in practices with less than five physicians³² and 44 percent of all physicians practice in such settings.²⁷ While these physicians presumably are as focused on providing high quality care as any others, and they have as much or more to gain from being able to document the quality of care they deliver, physicians in these settings have been relatively less involved in formal quality measurement and improvement activities compared to physicians in larger practices.³²

There are a number of reasons for this, including that EHR systems, which can facilitate quality measurement and tracking over time, are very expensive for smaller practices to obtain and use. In addition, quality measurement should entail using a broad set of performance measures, collected in a standardized way, with an adequate sample size for reliable estimates, and with adjustments for confounding patient factors including sociodemographic characteristics.³³ Small practices face barriers at each of these steps³¹ and obtaining statistically-reliable quality data from these practices is a challenge.³⁴ (See also Section IV below: Potential barriers to using demographic data.)

Yet even when reliable quality data are collected, if practices do not also collect accurate demographic data about their patients, they will be unable to adjust for practice mix, rendering their performance assessment results less valid. As measuring quality becomes increasingly important—and tied to payment—the importance of collecting accurate demographic data will rise. For instance, one recent study demonstrated that physicians caring for more minority patients face more barriers to meeting quality metrics, ranging from less time with patients to increased difficulty obtaining specialty care.³⁵ These and other findings suggest that physicians treating more minorities often begin at a disadvantage due to fewer resources.³⁶ If these practices cannot track their patient demographics, they are more likely to be punished by pay-for-performance programs, causing them, and the patients they serve, to fall even further behind.^{37,39,40}

Competing in a rapidly changing market

Collecting demographic data on the patients served by a practice can facilitate efforts to meet the needs of evolving communities and expand the practice into untapped markets. Most U.S. communities are facing significant demographic changes some of which are occurring very rapidly.⁴¹ Where ambulatory clinics have been able to examine the demographic data of the patients they serve, they have been able to more effectively market their services to the local community and develop tailored services that are patient-centered and culturally sensitive.⁴² For smaller practices in particular, local minority populations often represent significant growth opportunities, since these practices can thrive by pursuing niches not recognized or pursued by larger organizations.⁴³ Adopting a *low hanging fruit* approach to QI has been shown to help maximize the value of QI dollars in ambulatory practices

As measuring quality becomes increasingly important—and tied to payment—the importance of collecting accurate demographic data will rise. For smaller practices in particular, local minority populations often represent significant growth opportunities

Ensuring equity and eliminating disparities

While most physicians believe they provide equally high quality care to all of their patients,⁴⁴⁻⁴⁵ very few have the data necessary to prove the point one way or the other. Only measuring quality indicators and then stratifying those measures by race/ethnicity, language and gender can determine whether a practice is helping to alleviate, or is contributing to, regional or national health care disparities. The lack of basic demographic data on patients seen in the ambulatory setting has been repeatedly identified as a key barrier to tracking and eliminating disparities. For instance, Chien and colleagues⁴⁶ conducted interviews with leaders of 15 major performance incentive programs and found that the lack of reliable patient demographic data was consistently cited as a major barrier to assessing the impact of targeted physician practice incentive programs on reducing disparities.

On the other hand, where practices have collected demographic data, they have sometimes been used successfully to address disparities. For example, primary care practices in New York used vaccination data, stratified by demographic groups, to target disparities in immunization rates. The intervention reduced disparities from 18 percent to 4 percent across the board and the Hispanic-White disparity was reduced from 15 percent to 1 percent.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁸

... where practices have collected demographic data, they have sometimes been used successfully to address disparities.

Potential barriers to collecting demographic data

Given that many practices do not collect patient demographic data today, it is important to understand the perceived and real barriers to collecting these data. A number of potential barriers have been studied, ranging from potential misuses of the data, to cost, to legal challenges, to patient and staff discomfort talking about race and ethnicity.⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰

Potential clinical misuses of the data

Patient demographic data are useful for many population-based purposes (such as quality improvement and community outreach, as noted above), yet it is also important to recognize that these data are easily misused if clinicians or others

believe they are to be routinely used to change the care delivered to individual patients. One of the objections to collecting data on race and ethnicity that has been cited by practice managers and clinicians is the notion that collecting these data is contrary to a practice philosophy that treats all people equally, without regard to racial or ethnic background.⁴⁹

Of course clinicians will recognize that there are some genetic diseases that are more frequent in specific racial or ethnic groups (some of which are very well known, such as Tay-Sachs disease among Ashkenazi Jews or sickle cell disease among people from African, Mediterranean or South Asian origins), which might affect what medical care should be offered, such as specific screening protocols for members of the most-affected racial groups. There are also instances where racial or ethnic groups might merit consideration of different therapeutic protocols based on presumed genetic differences that have not yet been fully elucidated the most famous and controversial of these being the use of specific medications for heart failure in African-American patients.⁵¹ However, it is important to bear in mind that race is a psychosocial construct, not a biological taxonomy, and a patient's race is a poor predictor of genetic makeup;⁵² a patient's family history often provides considerably better information on disease risks than will information on the patient's racial or ethnic categorization. In addition, the future is likely to bring increasing opportunities to obtain personal genomic data to inform testing or treatment decisions, which will be far superior to making genetic assumptions based on skin color, country of origin, or cultural heritage.

Even more important is to recognize that race and ethnicity are very unreliable predictors of a patient's health-related priorities, beliefs, goals and concerns. A physician or health care professionals should never assume that a patient from a particular racial or ethnic group holds certain health beliefs simply because they are a member of that group. This type of stereotyping is clinically dangerous and, moreover, there is no need for it because it is almost always possible to determine the patient's personal beliefs, priorities, goals and concerns simply by asking the patient about these issues. In sum, a patient's ethnic background is no substitute for eliciting a good, individualized, psychosocial history and a discussion about the patient's treatment preferences and goals.⁵³

The bottom line with regard to using demographic data to tailor individual patient care is that physicians should use the best data available to them when making clinical decisions. When there is scientific evidence indicating that a particular demographic characteristic, whether it is age, gender, race or ethnicity, is clinically important because it is associated with increased risk of a particular condition or differential efficacy of a particular therapeutic intervention, it may be appropriate to use these data to help tailor care. But demographic information is unlikely ever to be the best information available in determining a patient's individual priorities, goals and concerns with regard to their care. Using demographic data to infer anything about the patient's personality, beliefs, behaviors or priorities would be a significant misuse of these data. All patients deserve the opportunity to articulate their own personal health-related values to their physician—and to be free of concern that they might receive care based on racial or ethnic stereotypes.

A physician or health care professionals should never assume that a patient from a particular racial or ethnic group holds certain health beliefs simply because they are a member of that group.

All patients deserve the opportunity to articulate their own personal health-related values to their physician—and to be free of concern that they might receive care based on racial or ethnic stereotypes.

The collection of race and ethnicity data from patients in health care settings is legal under both state and federal law and does not violate the HIPAA Privacy Rule.

... several regulatory bodies have recently begun urging the collection of patient demographic information, including race, ethnicity and primary language.

Time and cost

In research conducted for the Commission to End Health Care Disparities,^{24,31,49} we found that, contrary to expectations, ambulatory practices rarely named time or cost as barriers to collecting demographic information on race or ethnicity. In fact, most practices, when asked explicitly about the cost and time required for demographic data collection, did not feel collecting these data would be particularly costly or time prohibitive. After all, patients must be checked in when coming to a medical visit and already may answer a number of questions at the front desk.

However, even a low cost and rapid activity can be thwarted if other barriers stand in the way or if it is seen as having negligible value.

Perceived legal barriers

A commonly perceived barrier to collecting demographic data involves legal and regulatory concerns, especially concerns about whether collecting patient race and ethnicity is allowed under the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and under the Privacy Rule of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

Fortunately, these concerns are unfounded. The collection of race and ethnicity data from patients in health care settings is legal under both state and federal law and does not violate the HIPAA Privacy Rule.⁵⁴ In fact, some state laws actually require reporting patient data by race, ethnicity, and primary language, to help monitor for potentially discriminatory practices.⁵⁵ Federal law, meanwhile, offers numerous supports for the collection of race and ethnicity data, starting with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. According to that Act, all recipients of federal funds must keep records and submit compliance reports "in such form and containing such information" as the responsible DHHS official determines necessary to ascertain whether the recipient is complying with the regulation.⁵⁶ According to an example included in the Civil Rights Act of 1964 regulations,⁵⁷ recipients of federal funds should have race and ethnicity data showing the extent to which members of minority groups are beneficiaries of and participants in the federally assisted programs. Title VI applies to all health care providers receiving federal funds, including physicians who treat patients enrolled in Medicare, Medicaid and the State Children's Health Insurance Program. While physician offices were specifically exempted from requirements to certify their compliance with the Civil Rights Act (see The Civil Rights Act and the AMA, 1964, available at www.ama-assn.org/ama1/pub/upload/mm/369/civilrightsact.pdf) the act certainly supports and does not prohibit the collection of race and ethnicity data in ambulatory settings. Finally, the language a person speaks has been determined to represent a proxy for national origin, for purposes of interpreting Title VI. As a result, Title VI supports the collection of patients' primary language data too.54

With regard to HIPAA, the Act's Privacy Rule does not restrict the type of data that may be *collected* from patients. Rather, HIPAA limits when data may be *disclosed*. When a practice collects demographic data linked to specific patients, these data must be protected from inappropriate disclosure—just like all other individually-identifiable health information.⁵⁴

Finally, several regulatory bodies have recently begun urging the collection of patient demographic information, including race, ethnicity and primary language. The Joint Commission requires demographic data collection⁵⁸ as does the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), in their accreditation requirements for hospitals and health plans, respectively.⁵⁹

Staff discomfort in talking about race

Some staff discomfort around collecting patient demographic information might be related to misunderstanding the legal and regulatory environment, as noted above. These concerns can be alleviated with better understanding of the various ways in which law and regulations support collecting demographic data.

Other staff concerns might stem from a general discomfort in talking about race. While such discomfort is not uncommon across the United States, the health care system addresses many personally sensitive topics (such as sexual and psychological health histories) on a routine basis and professionalism demands that we surmount any personal squeamishness or discomfort to do what is best for our patients. As we have learned in other areas of health care,⁶⁰ one way to alleviate such personal discomfort is to make the matter routine. When front desk staff regularly asks every patient about their race, ethnicity and primary language, asking these questions soon loses its novelty, along with any stigma the staff might have associated with it.

Another way to alleviate staff concerns is to provide training on how best to ask patients about their racial and ethnic background and how to answer questions that patients might raise when asked. Free online training materials are available for this⁶⁰⁻⁶¹ and additional supports should be built in to EHRs, as we will discuss below.

Staff concerns about the utility of collecting these data are perhaps the most important to address. Several important uses for these data were noted above, including the tracking and improvement of quality, effective promotion of the practice and its services, and monitoring and addressing racial/ethnic health care disparities. These and other reasons that might be important locally should be explained to the staff responsible for data collection whenever a practice initiates an effort to collect patient demographic data.

Patient concerns

A commonly cited barrier to collecting demographic data is the perception that some patients will be uncomfortable answering questions about their race or ethnicity. In Massachusetts, anecdotal reports suggest that greater staff comfort in asking these questions leads to less resistance from patients.⁶² Yet research also suggests that some patients will question why information on their race and ethnicity is being collected, and they might wonder if the data will be used to their disadvantage.^{24,63-64} In a study by Baker et al., for example, 80 percent of patients in a large, multi-racial clinic population in Chicago thought information on race and ethnicity should be collected, but 15.5 percent were uncomfortable providing their race and ethnicity to an admission clerk; among African Americans almost a quarter were uncomfortable (24.3 percent).⁶³ Fortunately, more than 50 percent of those who were initially uncomfortable also said their discomfort would be reduced if they were told the information was being collected to help monitor quality of care.

Potential barriers to using demographic data

Even among practices that succeed in collecting patient demographic data, several additional barriers exist to then using the information that has been collected. As noted earlier, collecting demographic data is not the goal—the goal is to use these data to help the ambulatory practice and improve the quality of care provided to patients.

Barriers to clinical performance measurement

A key barrier to practice improvement, with or without a focus on low hanging fruit or eliminating disparities, is the need to collect accurate clinical performance measures. The challenges in collecting accurate performance data, especially at the level of individual ambulatory practices, are beyond the scope of this report, but they are the topic of a great deal of work across the medical profession. In particular, the AMA-convened Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement[®] (PCPI[™]), convened by the AMA, includes more than 170 national medical specialty, state medical societies, the American Board of Medical Specialties and member boards, the Council of Medical Specialty Societies, health care professional organizations, federal agencies, individual members and others interested in improving the quality and efficiency of patient care. The aim of this broad membership is to enhance "quality of care and patient safety by taking the lead in the development, testing, and maintenance of evidence-based clinical performance measures and measurement resources for physicians."⁶⁵

Small sample sizes

One issue with regard to using demographic data that deserves special mention is the problem of small sample sizes. For individual clinicians, it is very difficult to find performance measures that are statistically robust, due to the relatively small numbers of patients with any particular disease.⁶⁶ This problem becomes even more acute when stratifying performance data by racial or ethnic subgroups. The American health care system remains strikingly segregated (with a large percentage of minority patients seen at only a small percentage of America's hospitals) and even among hospitals and large physician groups it is common to have relatively small numbers of patients from certain racial or ethnic groups.⁶⁷

In the meantime, we and others have argued that detailed (or granular) ethnic categories can provide a useful way of examining and improving quality of care for specific populations served by an individual hospital or even a single ambulatory or physician's practice. Yet the more granular the categories, the more the problem of small sample size is exacerbated. At all times, the level of statistical analysis that is possible will be influenced both by the size of the ethnic population in the community as well as by the number of those within the ethnic group that may have the specific condition being measured, such as diabetes, or who qualify for the measured service, such as screening mammography.¹⁶

Despite limits on statistical testing with small sample sizes, it is still useful and important to examine quality data stratified by race, ethnicity and language. First, these data can provide an initial sense of possibly significant differences between groups. For example, if a small group shows trends toward worse care processes, this finding can be further explored using qualitative methods (such as case tracking and interviewing key personnel) and then addressed as appropriate.²⁴ Second, stratified quality measures can illuminate when individuals from certain groups are not receiving basic services they should.⁶⁸ After all, statistical significance is not needed to determine that care provided to specific patients has failed to meet quality standards. Moreover, determining how many individual failures of quality are *too many* is more a professional and ethical question than a statistical one. Third, the absence of statistical significance in any individual practice does not mean that disparities do not exist or that they

For individual clinicians, it is very difficult to find performance measures that are statistically robust, due to the relatively small numbers of patients with any particular disease.

... statistical significance is not needed to determine that care provided to specific patients has failed to meet quality standards. are not clinically meaningful. In this regard, it can be helpful to analyze data from individual practices in relation to benchmarks and other information derived from much larger data sets. For example, lower use of statins in African-American and Hispanic populations might be especially important to detect and address at the practice level because of the higher burden of heart disease that we know affects these groups at the national level.⁶⁹⁻⁷⁰ Finally, as alluded to above (in Section Iia: Quality improvement and pay for performance), small numbers of patients receiving lower quality care can have an outsized impact on a practice's overall quality scores. These small groups often represent *low hanging fruit* for quality improvement, and targeting QI activities towards these groups can be the most cost-effective way for a practice to boost its performance scores.

In sum, small sample sizes can make statistically reliable analysis of stratified data difficult or impossible, but it does not make these data useless. Organizations that see differences in the quality of care provided to a small subset of patients might not have the sample size needed to prove this to be statistically significant, but it can be clinically important nonetheless. Practices that approach this issue from the point of view of QI will be motivated to undertake efforts to improve quality for these small subgroups, regardless whether the differences are statistically significant, especially if that small subgroup is dragging down overall performance scores.

Stratification of performance measures by demographic groups

Once a practice or other care delivery organization has collected demographic and quality data, these data still must be stratified by race, ethnicity or other demographic features to detect disparities. While this might seem to be a simple step, many practices, and especially small ones, do not have the data management and statistical expertise needed to stratify their performance data by demographic groups. Physicians, nurses and other office personnel have limited time and generally will not have been trained in analyzing data in spreadsheets, let alone computer programming or the use of statistics packages. Even if a clinician knows how to use Excel[°] or another program to create graphs and charts, and even when the clinician's data are in electronic systems, transferring those data into spreadsheets for basic data analysis can be challenging.

An example of the resources currently needed to ensure optimal use of demographic data is provided by the Aligning Forces for Quality (AF4Q) program, a national program funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, which is designed to lift overall quality of health care and reduce racial and ethnic disparities in 17 targeted communities across the country. AF4Q's equity framework includes the standardized collection of self-reported patient race, ethnicity and language and the stratification of specific performance measures by this demographic information.⁷¹ Because of the complexity of not only collecting performance data, but then stratifying these measures by race and ethnicity, the foundation has committed substantial technical assistance resources to help providers (hospitals and physician practices) overcome the technical hurdles of collecting and then reporting performance measures by patient demographic characteristics⁵⁰ The need for intensive technical assistance resources, even when working with relatively large organizations in a confined set of geographic areas, suggests the hurdles faced when helping smaller practices nationwide in their efforts to collect and then stratify their quality data.

All of these challenges point to the need for widespread efforts to make the collection and use of demographic data easier and more routine in the ambulatory setting. One promising avenue for these efforts is the implementation of EHR systems, since these new tools can incorporate a number of important functions that could support demographic data collection and use.⁷²

... small numbers of patients receiving lower quality care can have an outsized impact on a practice's overall quality scores.

... small sample sizes can make statistically reliable analysis of stratified data difficult or impossible, but it does not make these data useless.

Recommendations for collecting and using demographic data

Recognizing the potential utility of collecting and using demographic data in the ambulatory setting, the Commission to End Health Care Disparities recommends that all practices should collect certain basic demographic data on each patient served. The commission defines "basic demographic data" as being, at minimum, patient race, ethnicity and primary language. The commission recognizes that many organizations will find it useful to also collect and use data on a variety of other demographic factors that have been tied to disparities in care and outcomes and that could be useful for developing patient education and practice outreach activities (such as patient age, gender, socioeconomic status, health literacy, sexual orientation and gender identify, and others). With regard to basic demographic information however, to aid in understanding what must be collected and how, and to standardize data collection and make it more useful, the commission has developed the set of specific recommendations shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Recommendations of the Commission to End Health Care Disparities regarding routine collection and use of patient demographic information in ambulatory settings

- 1. All ambulatory practices should be able to describe the demographic characteristics of the patients they serve. At a minimum, demographic data should include patient race, ethnicity and primary language.
- 2. For quality improvement purposes, ambulatory practices should collect relevant quality data on the care they provide to patients; these performance data should then be stratified by relevant demographic categories.
- 3. When collecting demographic data from individual patients or their caregivers, the following six features of an ideal demographic data collection process should be standardized to facilitate collection of valid and reliable data in ambulatory practices:
 - Who provides the data—an individual's racial or ethnic identity should always be provided by the individual or their caretaker. An individual's race/ethnicity should be self-identified and never inferred from observation or name alone.
 - When to collect the data—when possible, data should be collected upon patient registration to ensure that appropriate fields are completed before the patient begins treatment. Ideally, data should be shared across practices, hospitals and health plans (in conformance with privacy rules, including HIPAA), so that patients are not asked to answer demographic questions more often than necessary.
 - What racial and ethnic categories should be used—at minimum, use the broad categories recommended by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget for purposes of the U.S. Census, but move toward collecting more granular categories based on the particular demographics of the community served.
 - How data should be stored—demographic data should be held in a standard database format to facilitate aggregation and linking to clinical data.
 - How patient concerns should be addressed—prior to asking for their demographic information, standard scripts should be used to reassure patients that data on their race and ethnicity are used to track quality and make sure all patients receive high quality care.
 - Staff training—staff responsible for collecting demographic data should receive regular training and evaluation, including on the reasons for data collection and how to explain the request to patients.

... the Commission to End Health Care Disparities recommends that all practices should collect certain basic demographic data on each patient served

^{4.} Governmental and other payers should support the collection of accurate demographic and quality data at physician practices and the analysis of quality data stratified by demographic categories.

An important caveat accompanies these recommendations. Research on how best to collect and use data on patient race and ethnicity is emerging along with changes in American demographics and how individuals define themselves, and the underlying technologies used to collect this data (such as EHR systems) are evolving rapidly. Therefore, this set of recommendations should not be considered static and is expected to be updated and to change over time.

In addition, the Commission to End Health Care Disparities notes that demographic data are sometimes collected at a variety of points in the health care system. Moreover, the uses of these data can provide benefits to many stakeholders. As a result, there are many questions about who should collect patient demographic data, how these data should be collected, stored and used, and who is to pay for these necessary activities. For example, demographic data need not be collected by ambulatory practices if they are already reliably collected elsewhere and are readily available for use at the practice level. If a health plan were to collect self-reported race, ethnicity and primary language data from enrollees and make these data available to clinicians, there would be no need to re-collect these data elements in the clinic for patients in that health plan. However, since most physicians contract with more than one health plan, and since demographic data collected by health plans are often imperfect and rarely immediately available to the practice, it will often be most efficient for the practice to collect these data locally. Our recommendations therefore focus on data collection in the ambulatory setting. Still, the purpose of the commission's recommendations is to provide guidance to practices and *also* to EHR vendors, policy makers, health plans and other stakeholders who must support clinicians in their efforts to collect these data and then use them to improve quality of care.

These recommendations address both demographic data collection and, equally important, the critical ways in which these data should and should not be used by ambulatory practices. The recommendations have been shared for review by the Commission to End Health Care Disparities for acceptability and feasibility and were approved by the commission's steering committee in January, 2011.

When to collect demographic data

The commission recommends that demographic information be collected by patient registration or front office staff when the patient first comes to the clinic or practice. This information can also be collected over the phone prior to the visit. Patients can also provide the information on a written form or at a registration kiosk. If a patient is given a written form but doesn't fill it out, this could indicate difficulty reading or understanding the form due to factors including marginal or low literacy or visual/hearing impairments, uncertainty about how to answer these questions (e.g., for a multi-racial individual), or concerns about why the data are being collected. We recommend that staff offer to provide such patients assistance in completing the form by asking, "Would you like help filling out the form?" Staff can then read the questions to the patient or the patient's proxy (e.g., parents or caretakers), or through an interpreter in the case of patients with limited English proficiency or who are deaf or hearing impaired and help them to complete these questions. Offering to provide help will also create an opportunity to explain why the data are being collected and to answer any other questions or concerns the patient might have (see below).

While a few people will change their racial or ethnic identification over time⁷³ it is not necessary to ask patients about their race and ethnicity at each visit. However, because race and ethnicity categories can change, and recommendations for how to record race and ethnicity have changed and may well continue to do so in the future, we recommend re-confirming race and ethnicity data intermittently (e.g., every five years). The commission acknowledges that the recommendation on reconfirmation is not based on strong evidence that five years is an ideal time frame, but rather on the more general understanding that changes in racial and ethnic categorizations can and do occur over time.

... since most physicians contract with more than one health plan, and since demographic data collected by health plans are often imperfect and rarely immediately available to the practice, it will often be most efficient for the practice to collect these data locally.

If a patient is given a written form but doesn't fill it out, this could indicate difficulty reading or understanding the form due to factors including marginal or low literacy or visual/hearing impairments, uncertainty about how to answer these questions (e.g., for a multi-racial individual), or concerns about why the data are being collected.

What demographic data to collect

The commission recommends that practices start by collecting *self-identified* race, ethnicity and language data since these data elements are fundamental building blocks for identifying racial and ethnic health care disparities.

Race and ethnicity categories

The commission recommends following the guidelines for standard race and ethnicity categories set forth by the IOM in its 2009 report, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement." (See chart below.)



Chart reprinted with permission from: Cheryl Ulmer, Bernadette McFadden, and David R.Nerenz, Editors; Subcommittee on Standardized Collection of Race/Ethnicity Data for Healthcare Quality Improvement; *Institute of Medicine Race, Ethnicity and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement*. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., 2009.

Note that ideally patients should be allowed to choose as many race/ethnicity categories as they feel describe them. Allowing patients to enter their own race (i.e., by writing in a response if they do not see a category that reflects how they would self-identify) is also recommended. Practices should be sensitive to the communities they serve and should include additional differentiation to standard categories when they think it is appropriate (for instance country of origin) or when they find significant numbers of patients entering their own racial category. In electronic data collection systems, EHR vendors could provide an almost unlimited number of choices in a drop-down menu that can then be rolled-up into standard Office of Management and Budget (OMB) race and ethnicity categories for regional and national analyses.¹⁶ Electronic systems can and should make it possible for patients or admissions staff to type any racial and ethnic categories into data entry fields, with auto-suggestion functions to save time.

Language categories

According to the IOM,¹⁶ "data on a person's language and communication needs should be part of any minimum data set related to health care delivery and quality improvement." A patient's language always has direct impact on effective communication and care for that individual. In the 2000 Census, 8.1 percent of the U.S. population (~25 million people) spoke English "less than very well."⁷⁴ The number of such individuals nationwide who need language assistance is growing and these individuals frequently interact with the health care delivery system.⁷³ According to the American College of Physicians (ACP), 81 percent of general internal medicine physicians treat patients with limited English proficiency (LEP) at least once a day or a few times a week.⁷³ The evidence suggests that language barriers increase the likelihood that patients will be less satisfied with their care, will miss appointments, and will not use preventive care services.^{16,73-77}

The IOM recommends (Figure 1) that health care providers and practitioners determine the language need of their patients by assessing:

- How well an individual believes he/she speaks English (less than "very well" is defined as LEP)
- What language he/she prefers for health-related encounters
- Where possible, language(s) spoken at home and language preferred for written materials

How to ask for self-reported race, ethnicity and primary language

For purposes of patient care, patients or their caretakers should always be the source of their own demographic data and this information should never be inferred by observation alone or by assumptions based on the patient's name. This raises the question of how to ask these questions in a reliable and sensitive manner. This issue is most acute when staff is asked to request patients to verbally provide their race, ethnicity and language information, but even written forms should ask for this information in a sensitive manner that is most likely to produce reliable results.

Research on how best to ask patients about their racial and ethnic background provides several lessons. The key step is to succinctly explain to patients or their caregivers why this information is being collected. By offering a clear and concise explanation, whether written or verbal, of why the patient is being asked to provide this information, patients are put more at ease and staff might also increase their own comfort in bringing up the topic of race.

The most efficient way to provide staff tools and support for asking these questions might be to build these supports into EHR systems. For instance, a standard script for patient registration could be built into EHR registration systems and would provide a uniform, respectful way of asking these questions. A linked FAQ document could help staff provide answers to common patient questions.

Several example scripts are available. The Commission to End Health Care Disparities does not endorse a single script, but recognizes that model scripts should be piloted and tailored to specific local circumstances. The example script in the sidebar (right) was adapted from language tested and used by Boston Medical Center, Boston, Mass., and by the Palo Alto Medical Foundation, Palo Alto, Calif.

Using demographic data

Some potential uses of demographic data in physicians' practices are explored in Section II above. The commission's specific recommendations regarding the use of demographic data follow. First, we caution against using basic demographic data for tailoring diagnostic and medical treatment for individual patients, unless it is the best available information on presumed genetic conditions or risks. In particular, we recommend against making assumptions about an individual's health-related preferences or attitudes based on broad demographic characteristics, such as race or ethnicity, as this constitutes a clinically dangerous form of stereo-

... a standard script for patient registration could be built into EHR registration systems and would provide a uniform, respectful way of asking these questions. A linked FAQ document could help staff provide answers to common patient questions.

An example script for front desk staff in ambulatory settings asking patients about their racial, ethnic and language background

Now I'm going to ask a few questions about your race and ethnic background. We collect this information from all our patients and use it to track quality of care. This information goes into your medical record and it is confidential.

- 1. First, how would you describe your racial background?
- 2. Next, how would you describe your ethnicity, such as your family background or ancestry?
- 3. What language do you usually speak at home? (If English, skip the remaining questions.)
- 3a. Would you say you speak English very well, well, not well, or not at all? (If "very well," skip the remaining questions.)
- 3b. In what language would you feel most comfortable speaking with your doctor or nurse?
- 3c. In what language would you feel most comfortable reading health care instructions?

typing. Experienced clinicians know that a patient's racial or ethnic background is no substitute for a careful family and social history that can explore the patient's possible genetic inheritance as well as the patient's personal health-related priorities, goals and concerns.

On the other hand, we believe it is often helpful to use aggregate demographic information on patient populations to craft outreach initiatives, address particular population needs, and detect, track and eliminate health care disparities.

With regard to disparities, using demographic information to detect and eliminate health care disparities requires that one (1) collect accurate demographic data, (2) collect accurate quality data, and then (3) stratify quality data by demographic groups. To perform the stratification task, patient demographic data must be linked to quality data. For this reason, the commission recommends storing both types of data in a standard database format to facilitate linking of the two data sources.

This also raises the question of what quality data are *relevant* for a particular practice. There are many potential quality measures and collecting data for these measures can be complex and costly. To determine which quality measures are relevant, we recommend that practices use quality indicators that have been endorsed by their specialty societies and/or approved by the membership of the Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement.⁶⁵ Linking demographic and quality data is so important to ensuring these data are useful for improving patient care that we recommend practices select (often with guidance from professional societies and support from EHR systems) which quality measures to use as early in the process as possible. In addition, because quality measurement is much more useful when one's data can be aggregated and compared across multiple sites or benchmarked against quality standards, practices collecting quality and patient demographic data need to be able to link and share these data to learn from each other. This will require that demographic data be interoperable across different electronic record systems. Therefore, as quality measures are being selected, plans for linking these data to a larger database, with attention to interoperability with larger systems where possible, should be developed, too.

Finally, both of these steps (selecting quality measures and planning for using these data for benchmarking and quality improvement) should be carefully explained to office staff *before* starting or revamping any demographic data collection process. Having a clear plan for how a practice intends to use data to examine and improve care can go a long way towards reassuring clinicians, staff and patients that collection of demographic data will be a useful exercise.

Even for practices that carefully select quality measures to use, stratification and other analyses of these data can be complex, time consuming, expensive and beyond the scope of expertise of most small practices. In addition, data analysis is often best accomplished at a level where multiple practices can combine data and learn from each other. As a result, the government, hospitals, health plans and professional societies all can play productive roles in supporting and coordinating the stratification and analysis of quality data. The special role of EHR systems is addressed below.

... patient demographic data must be linked to quality data. For this reason, the commission recommends storing both types of data in a standard database format to facilitate linking of the two data sources.

... the government, hospitals, health plans and professional societies all can play productive roles in supporting and coordinating the stratification and analysis of quality data. **Table 2.** Recommendations for electronic health records (EHR) systems to facilitate basic

 demographic data collection and use

The Commission to End Health Care Disparities recommends that all electronic health records (EHRs) include the following three basic functions:

- 1. Demographic data collection supports: Standard fields for data entry on patient self-identified race, ethnicity and primary language at a minimum, which allow a patient to select more than one race and/or ethnicity as they feel is appropriate in describing themselves. We suggest including a script for how best to ask about race, ethnicity and language, with easy access to answers to the most frequently asked questions that patients might pose when asked to report their race and ethnicity.
- **2. Performance data displays:** Basic bar or pie charts that can display any performance indicator selected.
- **3.** Two-click access to displays of performance data stratified by any key demographic group. Visualization of quality data by demographic groupings should require no more than one click to select a performance indicator of interest and a second click to choose a demographic stratification variable.

EHRs are widely viewed as tools for providing high quality care, but a focus on simply spreading the adoption of EHRs without consideration to specific functions and clinical utility will not be sufficient to improve quality and reduce disparities. Poon and colleagues⁷⁸ recently found that the availability and use of specific EHR features by physicians was associated with better performance on quality metrics. Based on their findings, Poon and colleagues concluded that "to maximize health care quality, developers, implementers, and certifiers of EHRs should focus on increasing the adoption of robust EHR systems and increasing the use of specific features."78 In other words, EHRs need to be user-friendly tools that enable clinicians to do specific, highvalue tasks easier, faster or better. With regard to demographic data collection, this means EHRs need to provide specific functions that will facilitate the effective collection and use of patient demographic data in ambulatory settings. Specifically, the commission recommends that federal and private bodies involved in developing standards for EHR systems require that all EHRs incorporate the basic data collection and use functions noted in Table 2. The set of recommendations has been dubbed the "Two Clicks to Equity" agenda,79 because it focuses on a few basic technical features of EHRs that would allow any ambulatory practice with any EHR and the desire to collect demographic data to be able to use these data to detect and address disparities, with very little technical, computer programming or statistics expertise required on the part of the clinician.

These recommendations derive from a recognition that simply implementing an EHR will not ensure that practices have the information needed to improve patient care. Baron⁸⁰ points out, for example, that when his practice set out to improve mammography rates after they had implemented their EHR, they assumed that routine patient registration would have captured the age and sex of each patient, and physicians in the practice expected the computer to calculate the number of female patients in their practice between 50–65 years of age for their denominator and, further, that the EHR would be able to tell them their numerator for this measure and identify women who had not had mammograms, enabling them to target their efforts to improve rates. It wasn't quite so simple. After a series of setbacks, the authors conclude that an EHR alone is not sufficient (though it is helpful) for quality improvement activities, and that efforts to improve EHR adoption should be coupled with creation of EHR standards to make it easier for most physicians to use the data in their systems, as well as programs to enhance physician appreciaEHRs need to be user-friendly tools that enable clinicians to do specific, high-value tasks easier, faster or better. With regard to demographic data collection, this means EHRs need to provide specific functions that will facilitate the effective collection and use of patient demographic data in ambulatory settings. EHR adoption should be coupled with creation of EHR standards to make it easier for most physicians to use the data in their systems ... tion of structured data sets. Increasing demands on physician practices without increasing support and enhancing the utility and user-friendliness of tools such as EHRs to measure quality and reduce disparities will result in a substantial barrier to achieving quality goals.

To help physicians select EHRs that are appropriate for their specific practices, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 has provided funds for regional extension centers which provide a vendor neutral environment and are designed to help physicians choose systems that will allow them to meet the criteria for meaningful use of health information technology (IT), and thus qualify for federal incentive payments.⁸¹ A number of professional societies have also launched substantial efforts to assist physicians in selecting optimal EHRs and other health IT products, including the AMA's "Putting health IT into Practice" resources,⁸² the American Academy of Family Physician's Center for Health IT⁸³ and tips and advice from the ACP.⁸⁴

Finally, even with systems that remove barriers and provide support for data collection, there will be costs associated with collecting and using patient demographic data in the ambulatory setting. While demographic data collection will directly benefit ambulatory practices in several ways, many of the benefits of data collection will accrue to other stakeholders in the health care system—most notably, the government and other payers. For this reason, we recommend that government and payers share in the cost of implementing EHR-based demographic data collection and QI systems in ambulatory practices.

Conclusion

Ambulatory clinics and practices will benefit in a number of ways from collecting basic demographic data on the patients they see, since these data can be used to accomplish high-value performance improvement projects, reach out to untapped markets and generate more reliable quality metrics. In addition to these direct benefits for the medical practice and the patients served, these data are needed to help our nation move towards the elimination of health care disparities, an important national goal. The commission recommends that basic demographic information should be collected from patients seen in the ambulatory setting, and that these data should be used to improve quality, including by examining quality data stratified by race, ethnicity and primary language. Existing and emerging EHR systems should be upgraded and standardized to support the collection of accurate data on patient demographics and quality of care, with easy access to stratified displays of quality metrics by demographic fields.

Appendix 1: Commission to End Health Care Disparities Member Organizations

Alliance of Minority Medical Associations American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology American Academy of Dermatology Association American Academy of Family Physicians American Academy of Ophthalmology American Academy of Pediatrics American Academy of Physician Assistants American Association of Public Health Physicians American College of Cardiology American College of Emergency Physicians American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists American College of Physicians American College of Preventive Medicine American College of Surgeons American Hospital Association American Medical Association AMA - Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs AMA - Council on Medical Education AMA - Council on Science and Public Health AMA - Minority Affairs Consortium AMA - Women Physicians Congress AMA - International Medical Graduates American Medical Women's Association American Osteopathic Association American Psychiatric Association American Public Health Association American Society of Addiction Medicine American Society of Clinical Oncology Association of American Indian Physicians Association of American Medical Colleges Association of Clinicians for the Underserved Association of Haitian Physicians Abroad Association of Minority Health Professions Schools AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals Blue Cross Blue Shield Association California Medical Association California Medical Association Foundation Chicago Medical Society

Coca-Cola North America Connecticut State Medical Society Eli Lilly & Company Florida Medical Association Gay and Lesbian Medical Association Illinois State Medical Society Massachusetts Medical Society Medical Society of New Jersey Medical Society of the State of New York Michigan State Medical Society National Alaska Native American Indian Nurses Association National Association of Health Services Executives National Association of Hispanic Nurses National Black Nurses Association National Council of Asian-Pacific Islander Physicians National Hispanic Medical Association National Medical Association National Minority Organ Tissue Transplant Education Program National Pharmaceutical Council Network of Ethnic Physicians Organization Ohio State Medical Association Pfizer, Inc Purdue Pharma **Renal Physicians Association** Society of Critical Care Medicine Texas Medical Association The CHEST Foundation (ACCP) Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences United Health Care White House Initiative on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders W. Montague Cobb/NMA Health Institute

References

- Smedley, BD Stith, AY, Nelson, AR, eds. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Institute of Medicine: Washington: The Institute of Medicine National Academies Press; 2003.
- 2 National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders: Report of the National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders. New York: Bantam Books; 1968.
- 3 Department of Health and Human Services. Report of the Secretary's Task Force on Black and Minority Health. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services; 1985.
- 4 Agency for Health Care Research and Quality. 2007 National health care disparities report. Rockville, MD: Department of Health and Human Services; February 2008.
- 5 Komaromy M, Grumbach, K, Drake, M et al. The role of black and Hispanic physicians in providing health care for underserved populations. N Engl J Med, 1996;334:1305-1310.
- 6 Kaiser Family Foundation. National Survey on Physicians, Part One: Doctors on Disparities in Medical Care. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation. Accessed at www.kff.org/minorityhealth/20020321a-index.cfm on 13 August 2010.
- 7 Jacobs EA, Kohrman C, Lemon M, Vickers DL. Teaching physicians-in-training to address racial disparities in health: a hospital-community partnership. *Public Health Rep.* 2003;118:349-56.
- 8 Tang TS, Fantone JC, Bozynski ME, Adams BS. Implementation and evaluation of an undergraduate socicultural medicine program. Acad Med. 2002;77:578-85.
- 9 Betancourt JR. Cross-cultural medical education: conceptual approaches and frameworks for evaluation. Acad Med. 2003;78:560-9.
- 10 Gamle VN. Under the shadow of Tuskegee: African Americans and health care. Am J Public Health. 1997;87:1773-8.
- 11 American Medical Association Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs. Report: Black-White Disparities in Health Care. JAMA. 1990;263:2344-2346.
- 12 US Department of Health and Human Services. Health, United States: 2006 with Chartbook on Trends in the Health of Americans. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2006.
- 13 Cheryl Ulmer, Bernadette McFadden, and David R.Nerenz, Editors; Subcommittee on Standardized Collection of Race/Ethnicity Data for Healthcare Quality Improvement; Institute of Medicine: Race, Ethnicity and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement. National Academies Press, Washington DC. 2009.
- 14 Eliminating Health Disparities. Commission to End Health Care Disparities web site. www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/public-health/eliminating-healthdisparities/commission-end-health-care-disparities.shtml. Accessed August 15, 2010.
- 15 Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. 2001. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- 16 Agency of Health Care Research and Quality. 2009 National health care disparities report. Rockville, MD: Department of Health and Human Services; 2010.
- 17 Institute of Medicine. Race, Ethnicity and Language Data. Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement. Rockville, MD; Department of Health and Human Services; 2009. www.iom.edu/Reports/2009/RaceEthnicityData.aspx.
- 18 Russell L. Measuring the Gaps: Collecting Data to Drive Improvements in Health Care Disparities. Washington, DC: The Center for American Progress. 2010. www.americanprogress.org/issues/2010/12/pdf/measuringgaps.pdf. Accessed March 11, 2011.
- 19 Lees KA, Wortley PM, Coughlin SS. Comparison of racial/ethnic disparities in adult immunization and cancer screening. Am J Prev Med. 2005;29:404-11.
- 20 Nowalk MP, Tabbarah M, Terry MA, Raymund M, Wilson SA, Fox DE, Zimmerman RK; FM-PittNett Practice-Based Research Network. Using quantitative and qualitative approaches to understand racial disparities in adult vaccination. JNMA. 2009;101:1052-60.
- 21 Maxwell AE, Danao LL, Crespi CM, Antonio C, Garcia GM, Bastani R. Disparities in the receipt of fecal occult blood test versus endoscopy among Filipino American immigrants. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17:1963-7.
- 22 Stewart SH, Silverstein MD. Racial and ethnic disparity in blood pressure and cholesterol measurement. J Gen Intern Med. 2002;17:405-11.

- 23 Liao Y, Tucker P, Siegel P, Liburd L, Giles WH. Decreasing disparity in cholesterol screening in minority communities—findings from the Racial and Ethnic Approaches to Community Health 2010. J Epidemiol Community Health 2010;64:292-299.
- 24 Hasnain-Wynia R, Baker DW. Obtaining Data on Patient Race, Ethnicity, and Primary Language in health care organizations: Current Challenges and Proposed Solutions. *Health Serv Res.* 2006; 41:1501-8.
- 25 Andrews, R. The quality of reporting on race & ethnicity in US hospital discharge abstract data. AHRQ. 2006.
- 26 Nerenz DR, Hunt, KA, Escarce, JJ. Health Care Organizations Use of Data on Race/ Ethnicity to Address Disparities in Health Care. *Health Serv Res.* 2006;41:1444-1451.
- 27 Audet AM, Doty MM, Shamasdin J, Schoenbaum SC. Measure, learn, and improve: physicians' involvement in quality improvement. *Health Aff* (Milwood) 2005; 24:843-53.
- 28 Hasnain-Wynia R, Van Dyke K, Youdelman M et al. Barriers to collecting patient race, ethnicity and primary language data in physician practices: An exploratory study. JNMA. 2010;102:769-775.
- 29 Siegel B. Should quality data be collected by race, ethnicity? Health Care Benchmarks Qual Improve. 2007;5:40-46.
- 30 Should your practice collect patients' race and ethnicity data? PriMed Patient Education Center: Available at: www.patienteducationcenter.org/aspx/News/ news_detail.aspx?newsid=171. Accessed February 20, 2009.
- 31 Wynia MK, Ivey SL, Hasnain-Wynia R. Collection of data on patients' race and ethnic group by physician practices. NEJM. 2010,362:846-50.
- 32 Landon BE and Normand SLT. Performance Measurement in the Small Office Practice: Challenges and Potential Solutions. Ann Int Med. 2008;148:353-358.
- 33 Landon BE, Normand SL, Blumenthal D, Daley J. Physician clinical performance assessment: prospects and barriers. JAMA. 2003; 290:1183-9.
- 34 Hofer TP, Hayward RA, Greenfield S, Wagner EH, Kaplan SH, Manning WG. The unreliability of individual physician "report cards" for assessing the costs and quality of care of a chronic disease. JAMA. 1999;281:2098-105.
- 35 Reschovksy JD O'Malley AS. Do primary care physicians treating minority patients report problems delivering high quality care?" *Health Aff* (Milwood), web supplement 2008:27:w222-w230.
- 36 Fiscella K and Epstein RM. So much to do, so little time care for the socially disadvantaged and the 15-Minute visit. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:1843-1852.
- 37 Casalino LP, Elster A, Eisenberg A, Lewis E, Montgomery J, Ramos D. Will pay-for-performance and quality reporting affect health care disparities? *Health Aff* (Milwood) . 2007:26:w405-14.
- 38 Rosenthal MB, Frank RG, Li Z, Epstein AM. Early experience with pay-forperformance: from concept to practice. JAMA. 2005;294:1788-93.
- 39 Epstein AM, Lee TH, Hamel MB. Paying physicians for high-quality care. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:406-10.
- 40 Green AR, Tan-McGrory A, Cervantes MC, and Betancourt JR. Leveraging Quality Improvement to Achieve Equity in Health Care. Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety 2010; 36:435-442(8)
- 41 Garreau J. 300 Million and Counting. The United States reaches a demographic milestone, thanks largely to immigration. *Smithsonian Magazine*. October 2006.
- 42 Hablamos Juntos. Perspectives on communication barriers. Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; 2004. www.hablamosjuntos.org/pdf_files/LSP.Report.Final.pdf. Accessed August 13, 2010.
- 43 Baum N and Henkel G. Marketing your clinical practice: Ethically, Effectively, Economically. 3rd ed. New York: Aspen Publishers Inc; 2000:145-51.
- 44 Lurie N, Fremont A, Jain AK, Taylor SL, McLaughlin R, Peterson E, Kong BW, Ferguson TB Jr. Racial and ethnic disparities in care: the perspectives of cardiologists. *Circulation*. 2005;111:1264-9.
- 45 Sequist TD, Ayanian JZ, Marshall R, Fitzmaurice GM, Safran DG. Primary care clinician perceptions of racial disparities in diabetes care. J Gen Intern Med. 2008;23:678-84.
- 46 Chien AT, Chin MH, Davis AM, Casalino LP. Pay for performance, public reporting, and racial disparities in health care: how are programs being designed? *Med Care Res Rev.* 2007;64:283S-304S.

- 47 Nerenz D. Health Care Organizations Use of race/ethnicity data to address quality disparities. *Health Aff* (Milwood). 2005;24: 409-416.
- 48 Szilagyi PG, Schaffer S, Shone L, Barth R, Humiston SG, Sandler M, Rodewald LE. Reducing geographic, racial, and ethnic disparities in childhood immunization rates by using remainder/recall interventions in urban primary care practices. *Pediatrics*. 2002;110:e8.
- 49 Vanderbilt SK, Wynia MK, Gadon M, Alexander GC. A qualitative study of physicians' engagement in reducing health care disparities. JNMA 2007;99:1315-1322.
- 50 Rittner SS, Hasnain-Wynia R, Scanlon DP, Farley D, Talenko S. Collecting race, ethnicity and primary language data in physician practices: The Minnesota Community Measurement experience. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Aligning Forces for Quality Report, August 2010.
- 51 Kahn CN, Ault T, Isenstein H, et al. Snapshot of hospital quality reporting and pay- for- performance under Medicare. *Health Aff* (Milwood). 2006;25:148-62.
- 52 Taylor A et al. Combination of isosorbide dinitrate and hydralazine in blacks with heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;351:2049–2057.
- 53 Kleinman A, Eisenberg L, Good B. Culture, illness, and care: clinical lessons from anthropologic and cross-cultural research. Ann Intern Med. 1978; 88(2):251-258.
- 54 Rosenbaum S, Burke T, Nath SW, Santos J, Thomas D. The Legality of Collecting and Disclosing Patient Race and Ethnicity Data. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Policy Brief, June 2006. Available at: www.rwjf.org/files/publications/other/ RaceEthnicDisparitiesData06222006.pdf . Accessed February 20, 2009.
- 55 Hasnain-Wynia R, Pierce D, Haque A, Hedges Greising C, Prince V, Reiter J. Health Research and Educational Trust Disparities Toolkit. www.hretdisparities.org. Updated 2007. Accessed on February 16, 2009.
- 56 Definition of Program or Activity. 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-4a 2002.
- 57 Civil Rights Act 1967
- 58 The Joint Commission. Hospitals, Language, and Culture: A Snapshot of the Nation. Washington, DC: The Joint Commission. Available at www.jointcommission.org/ NR/rdonlyres/E64E5E89-5734-4D1D-BB4D-C4ACD4BF8BD3/0/hlc_paper.pdf. Accessed August 18, 2010.
- 59 Agency for Health Care Research and Quality: Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement. www.ahrq.gov/research/ iomracereport/reldata6a.htm. Accessed August 18, 2010.
- 60 Handbook on collection of race/ethnicity/language data in medical groups. www.mncm.org/site/assets/resources/ Handbook_on_the_Collection_of_6-30-09_FINAL.pdf). Minneapolis, MN: Community Measurement, 2009. Accessed August 14, 2010.
- 61 HRET NJ Patient Race and Ethnicity: Improving Hospital Data Collection and Reporting-Education Campaign. www.njha.com/research/educampaign.aspx#webbased. Accessed December 7, 2010.
- 62 Weinick RM, Caglia JM, Friedman E, Flaherty K. Measuring racial and ethnic disparities in Massachusetts. *Health Affairs* 2007; 26(5):1293-1302.
- 63 Baker DW, Hasnain-Wynia R, Thompson J, et al. Attitudes toward health care providers collecting information about patient's race, ethnicity, and language. Med Care. 2007;45:1034-1042.
- 64 Hasnain-Wynia R, Taylor-Clark K, Ayodola A. Collecting race, ethnicity, and language data to identify and reduce health disparities: Perceptions of health plan enrollees. Med Care Res Rev. Published online 1 October, 2010. DOI: 10.1177/1077558710382549.
- 65 Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement. Clinical Quality. www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/clinical-practice-improvement/ clinical-quality/physician-consortium-performance-improvement.shtml. Accessed August 18, 2010.
- 66 Kaplan SH, Greenfield S Ware JE Jr. Assessing the effects of physician-patient interactions on the outcomes of chronic disease. Med. Care 1989;27:S110-S127.
- 67 Hasnain-Wynia R, Kang R, Landrum MB, Vogeli C, Baker DW, Weissman JS. Racial and ethnic disparities within and between hospitals for inpatient quality of care: an examination of patient-level hospital quality alliance measures. J Health Care for the Poor Underserved. 2010;21:629-48.
- 68 Weinick RM, Flaherty K, Bristol SJ. Creating Hospital Equity Reports: A Guide for Hospitals. Boston, MA: Massachusetts General Hospital. www2.massgeneral.org/ disparitiessolutions/z_files/disparities%20leadership%20guide_final%20exec%20summ.pdf. Updated 2008. Accessed August 18, 2010.
- 69 Ma J, Stafford RS. Quality of U.S. outpatient care: temporal changes and racial/ethnic disparities. Arch Int Med, 2005;165:1354-1361.
- 70 American Heart Association. 2004 Heart and Stroke Facts Statistical Update. Dallas, TX: American Heart Association. 2005.

- 71 Frequently Asked Questions. Aligning Forces for Quality, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. http://equity.forces4quality.org/faq. Accessed February 10, 2009.
- 72 Fan E, Laupacis A, Provonost PJ, Guyatt GH, Needham DM. How to Use an Article About Quality Improvement. JAMA 2010; 304:2279-2287.
- 73 American College of Physicians. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care, Updated 2010. Philadelphia, PA: American College of Physicians. Available at www.acponline.org/advocacy/where_we_stand/access/racial_disparities.pdf. Accessed August 18, 2010.
- 74 Shin, HB and Bruno, R. Language Use and English-Speaking Ability: 2000. Census 2000 Brief. October, 2003. Accessed at www.census.gov/prod/2003pubs/c2kbr-29.pdf, October 8, 2010.
- 75 Brach C, Fraser I, Paez K. Crossing the language chasm. Health Aff 2005;24:524-434.
- 76 Ku L, Flores G. Pay now or pay later: Providing interpreter services in health care. Health Aff 2005;24:435-444.
- 77 Carrasquillo O, Orav EJ, Brennan TA, Burstin HR. Impact of language barriers on patient satisfaction in an emergency department. J Gen Intern Med. 1999;14:82-87.
- 78 Poon EG, Wright A, Simon SR, Jente, CA et al. Relationship between use of electronic health record features and health care quality. Results of a statewide survey. Med Care. 2010;48:203-209.
- 79 Wynia MK, Ivey SL, Hasnain-Wynia R. Collection of data on patient race and ethnic group by physician practices. Correspondence. N Eng J Med. N Engl J Med 2010; 363:96-97. Available at: www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMc1004036. Accessed November 29, 2010.
- 80 Baron RJ. Quality improvement with an electronic health record: Achievable, but not automatic. Ann Int Med. 2007;147:549-552.
- 81 Arvantes J. Regional extension centers to help primary care practices meet 'meaningful use' requirements. American Association of Family Physicians News. Feb 15, 2010. Available at www.aafp.org/online/en/home/publications/news/news-now/ practice-management/20100215seidman-ehrs.html. Accessed August 19, 2010.
- 82 American Medical Association. Selecting Health Information Technology. www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/solutions-managing-your-practice/ health-information-technology/putting-hit-practice/selecting-hit.shtml. Accessed November 29, 2010.
- 83 American Academy of Family Physicians. Center for Health IT. www.centerforhit.org. Accessed November 29, 2010.
- 84 Carter JH. Tips for evaluating electronic medical record software. www.acpinternist.org/ archives/2004/04/emrs.htm. Accessed November 29, 2010.